

PROTOCOL

Open Access



Factors associated with preoperative attrition in bariatric surgery: a protocol for a systematic review

Tamasin Taylor^{1*} , Ofa Dewes^{2,3}, Nalei Taufa³, Wendy Wrapson⁴ and Richard Siegert⁴

Abstract

Background: Bariatric surgery results in substantial medical and economic benefits; however, independent studies typically report high patient preoperative attrition rates. Studies have identified individual characteristics and sociodemographic variables of those who complete the surgery compared to those who do not. The aim of the present protocol is to outline a systematic review focussed on identifying the sociodemographic, medical, cultural, psychological, and patient-led factors affecting preoperative attrition in clients who were enrolled in bariatric surgery programmes.

Methods/design: The databases Scopus, CINAHL, PsycINFO, Web of Science, and MEDLINE will be searched for retrospective, prospective, and cross-sectional observational studies that have identified any sociodemographic, medical, cultural, psychological, and patient-led factors affecting preoperative attrition in clients who are enrolled in a bariatric surgery programme. English-language articles published between 1997 to 2020, inclusive of adults 18 years or older, will be included in the review. This protocol has been registered in PROSPERO, registration number; CRD42017068557.

Discussion: Presently, there are studies and reviews investigating population-based utilisation and access to bariatric surgery; however, there is a need to review the reasons behind preoperative bariatric surgery patient attrition once selected for bariatric surgery. The results of the review will highlight potential systematic disparities in patient attrition, where gaps in knowledge remain for further investigation, and suggest areas where countermeasures may be focussed for decreasing attrition rates.

Systematic review registration: PROSPERO [CRD42017068557](https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-018-0855-x)

Keywords: Preoperative, Bariatric surgery, Obesity, Disparities, Systematic review, Humans, Morbid, Obesity surgery, Attrition

Background

Bariatric surgery is now recognised as the most effective procedure to treat patients with obesity and obesity-related co-morbidities as well as resulting in significant short and long-term savings in costs of healthcare resource utilisation [1–5]. The National Institutes of Health (NIH) criteria for bariatric surgery is a BMI > 40 kg/m², or greater, or a BMI > 35 kg/m² or greater with significant obesity-related comorbidities

[6]. There are four different bariatric surgery operative procedures presently used worldwide including the gastric bypass (restrictive or malabsorptive), alone or in combination with vertical banded gastroplasty, laparoscopic adjustable gastric banding (restrictive), vertical banded gastroplasty (restrictive), and biliopancreatic diversion, and duodenal switch (primarily malabsorptive) [1].

Bariatric surgery can result in significant and permanent weight loss and the elimination or improvement of most obesity-related comorbidities. These include diabetes, hypertension, hyperlipidaemia, obstructive sleep apnoea, gastroesophageal reflux disease, cardiac dysfunction, osteoarthritis and low back pain, non-alcoholic

* Correspondence: tamasin.taylor@aut.ac.nz

¹Auckland University of Technology, 90 Akoranga Drive, Northcote, Auckland 0627, New Zealand

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article



fatty liver disease, intertriginous dermatitis, stress incontinence, symptoms of depression, and eating disorders [1]. Additionally, bariatric surgery has shown to be cost-effective and pay for itself within 4 years compared with no operative management [1]. In terms of post-operative risks from the operative stage to 5 years, the complication rates associated with surgery range from 10% to 17% and reoperation rates are around 7% [7, 8]. Mortality associated with the surgery is low, ranging between 0.08 and 0.35% [8].

Some complications resulting from bariatric surgery that can occur within 30 days of surgery include wound infection, deep-vein thrombosis, small bowel obstructions, abdominal leaks, and death [9]. Patients who smoke are at an increased risk of poor wound healing, anastomotic ulcers, and overall impaired health [10]. Aside from smoking, other pre-existing patient-risk factors include extremes of BMI, prior venous thromboembolism, mobility limitations, obstructive sleep apnea, age greater than 50, coronary artery disease, pulmonary disease, and male gender [11].

Longitudinal studies show worse post-surgery outcomes for those with less behavioural compliance to preoperative programs. For example, patients who lose the least weight at 24 months post-surgery have been found to show less compliance with pre-surgical requirements including attending few medical appointments and low adherence to behavioural changes (i.e. diet and exercise) [12–14]. A review identified that gradual post-surgical weight increases in patients between 2 and 5 years after having a sleeve gastrectomy surgery were attributed to maladaptive eating and lack of exercise [15]. In comparison, significant weight loss at 5 years was related to lifestyle modification scores that were higher than the scores of patients with insufficient weight loss. Together, the literature indicates that patients who follow preoperative instructions and succeed in making healthier lifestyle changes are more likely to have positive outcomes from surgery.

These results suggest the importance of establishing healthy lifestyle behaviours at the pre-surgical stage. To reduce complications and improve weight loss, many bariatric programs require patients to achieve a preoperative weight loss of approximately 10% of excess body weight above a BMI of 25 to increase fitness and mobility, to quit smoking and show improved glycemic control through diet [8–11]. There are limited understandings of which patients are specifically more likely to adhere to the preoperative requirements, although one review found that patients who received surgery were more likely to be white, female, and have private medical insurance [16]. This suggested that sociodemographic factors may be a contributing factor to preoperative program retention.

In summary, it is important that barriers to preoperative care are synthesised so that providers can better support their patients through the preoperative stage and achieve best possible post-surgical outcomes [13]. This protocol describes a systematic review that aims to identify the sociodemographic, medical, cultural, psychological, and patient-led factors related to preoperative attrition in patients who were enrolled in bariatric surgery programmes.

Methods

Context/statement question

The aim of the systematic review is to identify the sociodemographic, medical, cultural, psychological, and patient-led factors affecting preoperative attrition in bariatric surgery clients who were enrolled in a bariatric surgery programme. The proposed systematic review will therefore answer the following question:

What are the factors identified in the existing literature as affecting preoperative bariatric surgery attrition in clients who are eligible for bariatric surgery compared to patients who do go through with surgery?

Objective 1: To synthesise the rates and reasons for attrition for bariatric surgery clients in the preoperative period in the form of a systematic review.

Objective 2: To include in the review any grouping factors (eg., sociodemographic or medical factors) that may be attributed to attrition in the bariatric surgery preoperative period compared with patients who do go through with surgery. The PRISMA-P checklist [17] guided the writing of this protocol (see Additional file 1). The PRISMA guidance [18] will be used to guide the systematic review manuscript.

Eligibility

Participants/population

The population of interest are clients aged 18+ who were enrolled into a private or publically funded bariatric surgery programme and either did (as comparators) or did not follow through with the surgery.

Intervention(s) and exposure(s)

Bariatric surgical procedures as a result of obesity will be included that are classified as either restrictive, malabsorptive or both. These will include adjustable gastric banding, Roux-en-Y gastric bypass, sleeve gastrectomy, standard biliopancreatic diversion (Scopinaro), duodenal switch diversion, gastric plication, mini gastric bypass, vertical banded gastroplasty, loop gastric bypass, gastric balloon.

Comparator(s)/control

The comparators in this study are bariatric surgery clients who were enrolled in a bariatric surgery

programme, who did not withdraw from the bariatric surgery programme in the preoperative period and who did receive bariatric surgery.

Outcome(s)

Primary outcomes

The primary outcomes of interest are any sociodemographic, medical, cultural, psychological, patient-led factors affecting preoperative attrition. Additionally, any other factors that arise from the literature can be included under these categories if they are deemed to contribute to patient attrition. The sociodemographic characteristics of interest are those affecting population-based bariatric surgery access also identified by Bhogal et al. [16] including place of residence, race/ethnicity, occupation, gender/sex, religion, education, language, socioeconomic status, and social capital.

Medical characteristics will include any medical issues associated with pre-operative attrition identified by a given study. Cultural aspects will include specific relational or social customs and traditions around health, the body, medicine, and food specific to a particular culture identified as contributing to preoperative bariatric surgery withdrawal. Psychological issues will include any mental illness such as depression, anxiety, schizophrenia, bipolar, and personality disorders. Patient-led factors will include client disengagement, voluntary withdrawal, impatience, level of knowledge, and attitudes and behaviours.

Study characteristics (design, country of conduct, total number of subjects)

Inclusion: retrospective cohort, prospective cohort, case control and cross sectional studies.

Report characteristics: 1997–2020.

Language: articles written in English language only due to resource restrictions. Any non-English but potentially relevant studies will be listed in an 'awaiting assessment' section reserved for known studies that require investigation if the review is updated.

Publication status: published and unpublished

Number of subjects: the number who are enrolled into the bariatric surgery programme as per study retrieved.

Search strategy

Two experienced researchers will conduct the literature search which will be peer-reviewed by two professors independent of the research team. The following electronic databases will be used to identify studies according to the predefined criteria: Scopus 1788–present, CINAHL 1980–present, PsycINFO 1806–present, Web of Science 1900–present, and MEDLINE 1996–present. A lower limit of articles published in the period from 1997 has been set because the surgery procedures used after this period have been shown to be robust with low surgical risks and

significant results in comparison to earlier decades [3]. Reference lists of reviews and meta-analyses will be searched (but not included) to identify any relevant articles. Hand searches of references of selected studies will be conducted. An additional file gives search terms and strategy example for at least one electronic database (see Additional file 2).

The following websites will be searched for grey literature:

- Ministry of Health, New Zealand: <http://www.health.govt.nz/>
- Australian Government, National Health and Medical Research Council: <https://www.nhmrc.gov.au/>
- Statistics Canada: <http://www.statcan.gc.ca/start-debut-eng.html>
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence: <https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance>
- National Centre for Health Statistics: <http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/> www.cdc.gov/obesity/data/index.html
- Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada: <http://www.royalcollege.ca/rcsite/home-e>
- National Institutes of Health: <http://www.nih.gov/>
- Royal College of Surgeons of England: <http://www.rcseng.ac.uk/>
- Health and Social Care Information Centre: <http://www.hscic.gov.uk/>
- European Institute for Health Records: <http://www.eurorec.org/>
- Royal Australasian College of Surgeons: <http://www.surgeons.org/>
- Australian Institute for Health and Welfare: <http://www.aihw.gov.au/>
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality: <https://www.ahrq.gov/research/findings/factsheets/errors-safety/ngc/national-guideline-clearinghouse.html>

Data extraction, (selection and coding)

Titles and/or abstracts of studies retrieved using the search strategy and those from the grey literature will be identified and assessed for eligibility by two researchers (TT and NT) independently of each other to identify studies that potentially meet the inclusion criteria outlined above. The full text of these potentially eligible studies will then be assessed using full-text criteria by the same two researchers. Disagreement of including any particular study will be discussed until inclusion/exclusion agreement is reached. An audit will be taken out on ten randomly selected articles by two separate research team members (RT and WW) who will assess the appropriateness of the studies for selection according to the criteria. TT and NT will then extract data

independently, and discrepancies will be identified and resolved through discussion. Extracted information will include study setting, study population and participant demographics and baseline characteristics, details of the bariatric surgery type, study methodology, and attrition and retention rates. Information will be extracted from each included study on the number and percentage of enrolled clients who did/did not receive bariatric surgery per study. All factors the selected studies have examined in relation to attrition will be listed, and factors that were significant ($p \leq .05$) will be clearly identified: patient sociodemographic characteristics (place of residence, race/ethnicity, occupation, gender/sex, religion, education, socioeconomic status, social capital, age, health insurance status) and patient risk factors (BMI, comorbidities, smoking status, mental health status, quality of life, physical activity level).

Cultural reasons will include social customs and traditions around health, the body, food specific to a particular culture identified as contributing to preoperative attrition. Psychological information will include conditions such as depression, anxiety, personality disorders, schizophrenia, and autism. Patient-led and preoperative reasons cited for attrition will be extracted including client disengagement, voluntary withdrawal, impatience, level of knowledge, and attitudes and behaviours. In addition, the extracted data will include any other factors that can be included in these broader categories if they contribute to patient attrition.

Study records

All systematic review documents will be stored on the principal investigator's university drive, and when documents need to be shared with other research team members, they will be shared using a password-protected online cloud storage database. Literature searches will be alphabetised onto Microsoft Excel sheets so that duplicates can be filtered out. Extracted data from final review articles will also be synthesised using Microsoft Excel tables with factors listed underneath predefined attrition categories under review. The two researchers involved with auditing the ten randomly selected articles for full-article assessment will not have access to the shared online cloud-database. They will be given hard copies of the articles with a criteria scoring list to ensure independence of the audit.

Risk of bias (quality) assessment

Two reviewers (TT and NT) will independently assess the risk of bias (quality) of each selected study using the Newcastle-Ottawa Quality Assessment Scale (NOS) for case-control and cohort studies and the AXIS assessment tool for critical appraisal of cross-sectional studies [19]. The NOS encompasses a ranking system for three

risk of bias categories: selection (of cases or cohort), comparability (of cases or cohort), and outcome (this refers to the assessment of outcomes for case studies and ascertainment of exposure for cohort studies). The AXIS tool for cross-sectional studies involves a critical appraisal of a study's reliability, worth, and relevance. The appraisal tool employs 20 questions with 'yes/no' or 'do not know/comment' responses aimed at informing a study's quality. A third reviewer will be used as an arbitrator if there is disagreement. All selected studies will be included in the review; however, the quality of studies and confidence the reviewers have in the studies' quality test results will be commented on in the review.

Strategy for data synthesis

Characteristics of included studies will be tabulated including patient study reference, study type, setting/context, all factors examined across studies, and statistically significant ($p \leq .05$) associations. The results tabulated refer to the factors identified by the studies that were both non-significant and significantly related to preoperative attrition. The results will report bivariate analyses unless multiple regression analysis is available that will be considered more accurate due to controlling for confounders. Further, if a given study reports several regression models, results from the model with the largest number of predictors will be included. Additionally, frequency effect size will be calculated as the number of studies with a finding divided by the total number of included studies will be presented to reflect the proportion of studies in which a particular factor has been investigated. A narrative summary of the results that discusses connections between study factors will be presented, and a flow diagram with results of the literature search will be presented indicating the number of studies screened, the number of studies excluded, and reasons for exclusion.

Dissemination plans

Publication of the review in a scientific peer-reviewed journal and dissemination at all relevant conferences and any poster opportunities will be pursued.

Additional files

Additional file 1: PRISMA-P 2015 Checklist. (DOCX 71 kb)

Additional file 2: Search Strategy Example for at least one electronic database PsychINFO – 1806 to present. (DOCX 38 kb)

Abbreviations

PRISMA: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses; PRISMA-P: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic review and Meta-Analysis Protocols

Acknowledgements

Not applicable.

Funding

This research was supported (in part) by a contract from the Health Research Council of New Zealand.

Availability of data and materials

Not applicable.

Authors' contributions

The protocol was written by TT and NT. Review strategy was overseen by OD, WW, and RS. Literature searches were undertaken by TT and NT. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Ethics approval and consent to participate

Not applicable.

Consent for publication

Not applicable.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Publisher's Note

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Author details

¹Auckland University of Technology, 90 Akoranga Drive, Northcote, Auckland 0627, New Zealand. ²Maurice Wilkins Centre for Molecular Biodiscovery, Auckland, New Zealand. ³University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand. ⁴Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.

Received: 3 October 2017 Accepted: 25 October 2018

Published online: 28 November 2018

References

- Buchwald H, Avidor Y, Braunwald E, Jama MJ-. 2004 undefined. Bariatric surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *jamanetwork.com* [Internet]. Available from: <https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama/fullarticle/199587>. [cited 2018 Aug 31]
- Moroshko I, Brennan L, O'Brien P. Predictors of dropout in weight loss interventions: a systematic review of the literature. *Obes Rev*. 2011;12(11):912–34 Available from: <http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1467-789X.2011.00915.x>. [cited 2018 Aug 31].
- Saber AA, Elgamal MH, MK ML. Bariatric Surgery: the past, present, and future. *Obes Surg*. 2008;18(1):121–8 Available from: <http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s11695-007-9308-7>. [cited 2018 May 31].
- Diamant A, Milner J, Cleghorn M, Sockalingam S, Okrainec A, Jackson TD, et al. Analysis of patient attrition in a publicly funded bariatric surgery program. *J Am Coll Surg*. 2014;219(5):1047–55 Available from: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25256371>. [cited 2018 May 31].
- Gounder S, Wijayanayaka D, Murphy R, Ethnicity DA-. 2016 undefined. Costs of bariatric surgery in a randomised control trial (RCT) comparing Roux en Y gastric bypass vs sleeve gastrectomy in morbidly obese diabetic patients. *nzma.org.nz* [Internet]. Available from: <http://www.nzma.org.nz/journal/read-the-journal/all-issues/2010-2019/2016/vol-129-no-1443-14-october-2016/7032>. [cited 2018 Aug 31].
- Consensus Development Conference Panel. NIH conference: gastrointestinal surgery for severe obesity. *Ann Intern Med*. 1991;115(12):956–61. Available from: <https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1952493>.
- Torain MJ, Maragh-Bass AC, Dankwa-Mullen I, Hisam B, Kodadek LM, Lilley EJ, et al. surgical disparities: a comprehensive review and new conceptual framework. *J Am Coll Surg*. 2016;223(2):408–18 Available from: <http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1072751516301697>. [cited 2018 Apr 2].
- Chang S-H, Stoll CRT, Song J, Varela JE, Eagon CJ, Colditz GA. The effectiveness and risks of bariatric surgery. *JAMA Surg*. 2014;149(3):275 Available from: <http://archsurg.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?doi=10.1001/jamasurg.2013.3654>. [cited 2018 Aug 16].
- Gletsu-Miller N, Wright BN. Mineral malnutrition following bariatric surgery. *Adv Nutr*. 2013;4(5):506–17 Available from: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24038242>. [cited 2018 Aug 16].
- Mechanick JI, Youdim A, Jones DB, Garvey WT, Hurley DL, McMahon MM, et al. Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Perioperative Nutritional, Metabolic, and Nonsurgical Support of the Bariatric Surgery Patient-2013 Update: Cosponsored by American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists, The Obesity Society, and American Society for Metabolic & Bariatric Surgery* AACE/TOS/ASMBS Guidelines. NUMBER S1 [Internet]. 2013;21. Available from: <https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23529351>. [cited 2018 Aug 16].
- Nguyen NT, Blackstone RP, Morton JM, Ponce J, Rosenthal RJ. The ASMBS Textbook of Bariatric Surgery Volume 1: Bariatric Surgery [Internet]. Available from: <https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007%2F978-1-4939-1206-3.pdf>. [cited 2018 Aug 6].
- Toussi R, Fujioka K, Coleman KJ. Pre- and postsurgery behavioral compliance, patient health, and postbariatric surgical weight loss. *Obesity*. 2009;17(5):996–1002 Available from: <http://doi.wiley.com/10.1038/oby.2008.628>. [cited 2018 Aug 16].
- Robinson AH, Adler S, Stevens HB, Darcy AM, Morton JM, Safer DL. What variables are associated with successful weight loss outcomes for bariatric surgery after 1 year? *Surg Obes Relat Dis*. 2014;10(4):697–704 Available from: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24913590>. [cited 2018 Aug 16].
- El Chaar M, McDeavitt K, Richardson S, Gersin KS, Kuwada TS, Stefanidis D. Does patient compliance with preoperative bariatric office visits affect postoperative excess weight loss? *Surg Obes Relat Dis*. 2011;7(6):743–8 Available from: <https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1550728910008038>. [cited 2018 Aug 16].
- Lauti M, Kularatna M, Hill AG, McCormick AD. Weight regain following sleeve gastrectomy—a systematic review. *Obes Surg*. Available from: <https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27048439>. [cited 2018 Aug 21].
- Bhogal SK, Reddigan JL, Rotstein OD, Cohen A, Glockler D, Tricco AC, et al. Inequity to the utilization of bariatric surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Obes Surg*. 2015;25(5):888–99 Available from: <http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s11695-015-1595-9>. [cited 2018 May 31].
- Moher D, Shamseer L, Clarke M, Ghersi D, Liberati A, Petticrew M, et al. Preferred reporting items for systematic review and meta-analysis protocols (PRISMA-P) 2015 statement. *Syst Rev*. 2015;4(1):1 Available from: <http://systematicreviewsjournal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/2046-4053-4-1>. [cited 2018 Sep 23].
- Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, Mulrow C, Gøtzsche PC, Ioannidis JPA, et al. The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate healthcare interventions: explanation and elaboration. *BMJ*. 2009;339:b2700 Available from: <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19622552>. [cited 2018 Sep 23].
- Ottawa Hospital Research Institute [Internet]. Available from: http://www.ohri.ca/programs/clinical_epidemiology/oxford.asp. [cited 2018 Aug 31].

Ready to submit your research? Choose BMC and benefit from:

- fast, convenient online submission
- thorough peer review by experienced researchers in your field
- rapid publication on acceptance
- support for research data, including large and complex data types
- gold Open Access which fosters wider collaboration and increased citations
- maximum visibility for your research: over 100M website views per year

At BMC, research is always in progress.

Learn more [biomedcentral.com/submissions](https://www.biomedcentral.com/submissions)

